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 Scratch or mass dials are of 

medieval origin usually found near the 

south door or chancel wall of a church. A 

type of sundial , they are usually regarded 

as markers for the ôvariableõ time of 

liturgical services in the medieval 

world. The gnomen, almost always 

missing pointed out horizontally and cast 

a shadow on the dial: consequently the 

times of mass would appear to vary 

depending on the time of year.  Early 

scratch dials were about eight or nine 

inches in diameter with four or five 

markers on the lower semicircle with later 

ones gradually taking on the appearance 

of a òproperó timepiece. They are 

thought to date from 1100 to 1600 and 

with the increasing use of mechanical 

clocks and more scientific sundials they 

went out of use. 

 Examples of early dials can be 

found in Derbyshire at Mackworth, 

Muggington, Radbourne and Brailsford.  

Perhaps there is some significance in this 

bunching?  There is a veritable feast of 

dials and other graffiti at Mackworth in 

particular . Sometimes these dials would 

be used as replacement stone in damaged 

or newly built walls and there are dials 

recorded on north and west walls, in the 

porch and even in the nave or chancel 

where the sun never shone.   

 Should you find yourself rambling 

round a churchyard do look out for a 

scratch dial and let us know. 

 A story recently heard recounts 

the tale of a priest in Bedfordshire who 

would stand in wait until the sun was 

exactly at the appointed hour then go 

into the church and lock the door. It is 

not known whether he considered 

punctuality as next to godliness or 

whether his parishioners had a 

predisposition to cut and run at the first 

opportunity. Or indeed, whether it is 

apocryphal or not. 

 Adrian Farnsworth, Paula Whirrity, 

 Barbara Foster.  
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THE SOCIETY AGM  
 

The Society has seen many changes this 
year with the retirement of several council 
members and officers. 

Firstly Ray Marjoram has retired as Li-
brarian after 50 ð yes 50! -  years of service 
during which he has overseen the growth of 
our collection and in particular the addition 
of many outstanding ancient and modern 
books on the history of Derbyshire. We gave 
him hearty thanks for his work and welcomed 
Mrs Anne Allcock as his successor.  

We also bade a fond farewell to Mike 
Butler, Dave Barrett, Max Craven, Alan Pal-
fryman all long standing members of the 
Council and welcomed Mrs Denise Grace, 
Mrs Janette Jackson, Dr. Rosemary Annable, 
Mrs Susan Peberdy and Mr Geoff Petch who 
were elected as new members. 

Elsewhere the Society was, thanks to be-
quests, in a healthy state although it was 
agreed that such bequests should not normal-
ly be used to subsidise the annual running 
costs of the Society. Given ever increasing 
postal, printing and other costs, an increase in 
subscriptions could not be ruled out in the 
future. 

Many thanks to Pat Tinkler for her three 
years stint as Chairman of the Council.  Chris 
Wardle is the new Chairman.  

After the AGM, Peter Steer gave us a 
quite riveting talk on the campaigning group 
Kedleston Voice  who had fought for years 
to prevent the building of 400 homes near to 
Kedleston Hall. They had  eventually won the 
right to have a judicial review against a previ-
ous decision by a planning inspector that 
hinged on the principle that òif you canõt see 
it you can build itó. It was argued that that 
this was a misinterpretation of the law as it 
applied to Listed Buildings and against gov-
ernment guidelines. We now know that Ked-
leston won and furthermore the developers 
were refused the right to appeal! Well done 
and congratulations to all involved in what 
was a long and arduous fight. An inspiration!! 

    Barbara Foster 

Visit to Nottingham Castle Dig  
Friday 4th August 2017 

 
Trent and Peak Archaeology are plan-

ning their annual training dig at Nottingham 
Castle during July and August. We have 
organised a visit to the site which will in-
clude a tour of this yearõs archaeology, infor-
mation on past excavations and an oppor-
tunity to see some of this yearõs finds. It has 
been arranged for Friday 4th August at 2.30 
pm. The meeting place will be the gate-
house, outside the main entrance to the 
Castle. 

 
Pentrich Roman Site - Exploratory Sur-
vey Sat. and Sun. 23 - 24 September 2017 

 
We are organising a survey of Ryknield 

Street as it runs by Pentrich Roman fortlet, a 
military staging post along the road which 
ran from Derby (Derventio) to Chesterfield. 
There will be an opportunity for a small 
number of members to assist in this survey 
on the above dates.  

 
If you wish to take part in either of these 

field work events you need to book in ad-
vance as numbers are limited. Please fill in 
and return the form below or email request 
to Joan DõArcy, Stone House Prebend, 

Old Chester Road, Derby -
darcy@qcinternet.co.uk 

 
Number 
I/we would like to take part in 
a. The Visit to Nottingham Castle Dig 
b. Pentrich Exploratory Survey 

 
Name(s) ............................................................. 
 
Address  ............................................................. 

.............................................................................. 

Tel .........................................  

E-mail .................................................................. 
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PROGRAMME SECRETARYõS 
REPORT 

 
Three lectures so far have been arranged 

for the winter programme at the University, 
the first on September 29th by Matthew Sy-
monds, the editor of Current Archaeology , 
on òProtecting the Roman Empire : under-
standing Roman forts and fortletsó . An in-
ternational  look  at the subject including the 
gritty details! 

 
This will be followed by a memorial lec-

ture for Peter Billson by Maxwell Craven on 
Oct 27th and on 5th January  David Breeze 
will talk on òPainting Hadrians Walló.  Not 
literally of course but rather an exploration 
of artistõs depictions and what can be learned 
from them.  Full details in September Pro-
gramme notes.  

 
Last January Jenny Alexander gave us 

another of her most illuminating and inter-
esting lectures, this time about stonemasons 
in the Early Modern period and how they 
coped. This was in honour of Barbara Hut-
ton and Michael Mallender . In March, Dr 
Trudi Buck talked on Aspects of Archaeolo-
gy and Anthropology. 

 
 

LIBRARY NOTES  
 
The future of  the library is still in a state 

of  uncertainty for at the date of  this news-
letter we have not yet had any firm answer 
from Derby City Council concerning the 
closure of  the Main Library in the Wardwick.   
I write this as the incoming librarian, taking 
over from Ray Marjoram who has retired 
after 50 years of  service to the DAS library. I 
thank Ray for his enthusiasm and work for 
the library and for his support in the change-
over of  librarian.  Over the years Ray has 
built up the library to its present strong posi-
tion with journals from all round the coun-
try,  books, pamphlets and literature.  The 

breadth of  this material gives us all a sense 
of  the rich and wide-ranging heritage of  our 
county and to lose this would be a great 
sadness.    However, the finding of  new 
premises is proving difficult.  Joan D'Arcy  
continues to spend a lot of  effort in the 
finding of  a suitable space, as yet without 
success but she has come up with some 
more avenues to explore which she is taking 
forward.   I would reiterate Ray's plea in the 
last newsletter to ask if  anyone has any 
knowledge of  suitable premises then to 
contact either myself  or Joan.    Because of  
the lack of  ease of  access to the library, it is 
unfortunately underused.   We would like to 
think that if  we are lucky enough to find 
new premises,  that members of  the society 
will repay the work which Ray and Joan 
have put into the library over the years by 
using the resources which the library offers.   

 
The catalogue continues to expand with 

additions including a new edition of  Max-
well Craven's book on John Whitehurst and 
a biography of  Gladwyn Maurice Revell 
Turbutt 1883 -1914 by Sheppard and Rob-
erts. Ray is still selling surplus stock and has 
raised a considerable amount of  money for 
the society.  Thanks must go to Ray for this 
time consuming task.  Anyone willing help 
with this should contact myself  or Ray.   

 
If  any member wishes to access any of  

the books we hold,  please contact either 
myself  or Joan D'Arcy.   By the next news-
letter we hope to be able to give members 
some definite information on the library.  

 
    Anne Allcock 
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ARCHAEOLOGICAL  
RESEARCH GROUP 
 

Lenton Priory 
27th January 2017 

 
Gareth Davies of Trent & Peak Archaeol-

ogy (TPA) told us of the £60,000: project to 
discover more about the demolished Lenton 
Priory.  Little was known about the state of 
preservation of the Priory until TPA began 
archaeological excavations in 2012 in advance 
of the new tram network development in 
Nottingham.   Lenton Priory was a Cluniac 
priory dating from 1103-1126 and was one of 
the biggest establishments in the country with 
a massive religious building the size of South-
well minster with associated cloisters, domes-
tic buildings and fishponds.   The only visual 
evidence was one pillar on the ground.  TPA 
were invited to hold a watching brief over the 
site and involve the community in the excava-
tions.   There had been earlier small excava-
tions in the 1940s/50s when walls near the 
Boat Inn public house had been discovered.  
Lenton Priory was renowned in medieval 
England for the Lenton Fair, a market held 
annually over Martinmas (November 11th) to 
celebrate the beginning of winter.  Rental rolls 
for the fair stalls survive and it was hoped to 
find below-ground evidence of the stalls 
quaintly named ôfishers rowõ and ôskinners 
rowõ. 

  Early evaluation trenches found dense 
intercutting features within the grounds of the 
Priory revealing intact buried masonry com-
plete with architectural details and a fascinat-
ing sequence of activity dating from the late 
11th century through to the 17th century.   The 
Gregory Street track bed revealed the site of 
the market or fair with some items of interest 
including a gold noble of Edward III, Euro-
pean coins, probably pointing to the interna-
tional draw of the Lenton Fair, and a scale 
pan with the seal mark ôAndrew of Glouces-
terõ in the centre, so good evidence of trade 

and exchange. In the 14th century it appears 
that the stalls start to become permanent, 
almost like little houses.  Two 11th century 
defensive boundary ditches were discovered 
containing preserved leather shoes and pot-
tery.   The abbey precincts were located and 
pits filled with fossilised remains of corn 
bran, eel, herring and pig were found.   Fur-
ther finds  included lead weights, a jet pen-
dant off a rosary and a medieval well.  Unu-
sual was the burial of a cow, three broken 
iron knives and some pits filled to the brim 
with oyster shells.  Re-routing of a cable 
allowed TPA to look at the cloister and 
transept of the priory church which was 
previously thought to have been destroyed. 
Further excavations revealed a stoned lined 
cess pit and stone lined drains of the 15th-
17th century.   The present church of St. 
Anthony is to the north of the Priory and it 
was hoped to find a gatehouse chapel site 
there and indeed scalloped capitals were 
found.  Looking for cloisters in the south, 
ôalphabetõ tiles were found and under a fur-
ther layer of soil some Anglo-Saxon pottery. 

  The excavations caused great interest 
with the local people and councillors alike 
and Nottingham City Council funded a geo-
physical survey in five areas surrounding the 
Priory and the chapel of St. Anthony which 
was completed by TPA with volunteers 
from the University of Nottingham and 
Lenton Local History Society.  Walls of the 
Priory were found but the floor had been 
robbed.  Near the Boat Inn pub garden, 
walls, not formerly excavated, were found.   
The in-situ column base was architectural 
stone from the 12th century.   Adjacent but-
tresses were found together with more An-
glo-Saxon pottery.   To the north, in the 
Priory park, there were more pits, ditches 
and gulleys and the market site revealed 
metalled surfaces, tokens and German 
stoneware.   The Fair carried on after the 
Dissolution and trading had to stop for 
eight days in Nottingham when it was the 
Martinmas Fair. 
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  This Fair was re-established in 2014-15 
with the help of Lottery funding and in-
volvement of the local schoolchildren and 
people.   The stalls were mainly food stalls 
and attracted a good crowd.   In the future it 
is hoped to have a museum in a nearby 
church and an interpretation board at the 
tram stop.   The project enhanced the 
knowledge of the Priory and is certainly a 
site for further research. 

   Anne Haywood. 
 

Local Government Archaeologists 
 
After the AGM of the Archaeological  

Research Section 17th March 2017, our newly 
elected  chairman  Chris Wardle gave us a 
talk, not on Leicester revisited as advertised, 
as Chris explained, Richard Buckley had 
already talked to us on Richard III. Chris was 
reluctant to repeat what we had heard and so 
decided to tell us of some of his experiences 
as a local Government Archaeologist. 

Chris began by saying he would like to 
give us a personal view on how archaeology 
fits in to the planning system, what amateur 
archaeologists should be aware of and what 
local government archaeologists do: for ex-
ample, Dave Barratt, the County  archaeolo-
gist for Derbyshire and just about to retire 
began his working life when there was very  
minimal protection for archaeological sites as 
that  in place today. This protection is im-
portant to follow as buildings rapidly appear 
and disappear. 

Statutory protection of Listed Buildings 
began in 1947, and Conservation Areas were 
first designated in 1967. However fifteen 
years ago there was only 2% significant ar-
chaeology being recorded. Chris described 
how development changed over the last 30 
years, English Heritage now Historic Eng-
land has established a network of County 
archaeology that  produced records, firstly 
the Sites and Monument records (SMR), 
now replaced by the Historic Environment 
records(HER). Despite all this, the govern-
ment were forced to introduce, Planning 

Policy Guidance 16, ( PPG16) after a public 
outcry of  a number of high profile scandals 
such as the threatened destruction of the 
Rose Theatre in London.     

What local government archaeologists 
do is work with different groups of archae-
ologists, amateur, University researchers and 
museum archivists. Not only has Chris been 
teaching, he has also worked in an advisory 
capacity, making decisions within the plan-
ning system as to whether the finds should 
be dug up or left in the ground, maintaining 
records of heritage assets and checking to 
see if the development of a site might be 
affected by the finds.   
Chrisõs experience began in 1988 in Staf-

fordshire where he began computing the 
SMRõs of this area and then going on to 
maintain and update records until 2000. 
Then advising on developments until 2004 
when he began working in Leicester.   

During his 12 years in Leicester he ad-
vised and maintained several projects, one, 
Included the High Cross project near the 
river Soar. This is where the Romans in 
50AD built a set of defences, several centu-
ries later the Normans arrived and built a 
settlement, then in the 13th century an Au-
gustinian and Franciscan Friary was built. 
This was all discovered when the present 
High Cross shopping centre decided to ex-
tend its area. In High Cross Street itself, 
Roman by origin and later Saxon, extensive 
excavations were carried out.  In the middle 
plot a series of stone ovens associated with 
brewing and a malting kiln were discovered, 
closer investigation of the rubble beneath, 
revealed Saxon features and the collapsed 
wall of a large Roman building.  Further 
investigations discovered a medieval grave-
yard and church of St. Peter, which was one 
of four, ôlost churchesõ of Leicester.  Chris 
continued to give us details of further dis-
coveries including a Roman hypocaust, 
which was a huge project, and not yet writ-
ten up. 

Chris concluded that in spite of 40 years 
of lobbying, mandatory archaeological pro-
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tection of all aspects is not complete.   Coun-
ty archaeologists are disappearing in many 
Counties but happily Steve Baker is the new 
Derbyshire county archaeologist but the 
Development Control Officer is now a part 
time post.  Joan DõArcy sits on the advisory 
committee for heritage and tries to raise the 
profile of archaeology, but City Councils are 
failing in forcing builders to pay for any re-
search, therefore several layers of archaeolo-
gy lay undisturbed beneath urban areas.  

Unfortunately, this is why many building 
firms are now tending to go for rural land 
which is easier.    

    Janette Jackson.                                       
 

Visit to Kedleston Church. 
24th May  

 
In the early evening, 25 of us wended our 

way towards the secluded, All Saints Church 
of Kedleston.  Many of us paused at the 
South entrance to admire the Romanesque  
archway, decorated with zig zag moulding, 
enclosing a tympanum with incomplete or 
eroded carvings. The beakhead mouldings 
on the door jambs date the doorway to 
about 1150.  

Inside we were met by Ann and David 
Jones, volunteers of the National Trust, who 
led us competently through the history of 
the church. 

Although Kedleston Hall is owned by the 
National Trust, the Grade 1 church is under 
the care of the Churches Conservation Trust. 
The church which is consecrated still holds 
the occasional services.   Kedleston Hall 
appeared in the Domesday records but there 
was no mention of a church.  However in 
1198 the hall passed to Thomas De Curzon, 
with the advowson of a church. In 1290 the 
Norman chancel was knocked down.  The 
only remaining part of the original church is 
the Norman south doorway and adjoining 
nave wall, the greater part of the church, 
namely the chancel, crossing and transepts,  
dates from re-building in the late 13th centu-

ry.  Sometime later the top of the tower was 
added in perpendicular style. The building 
had high pitched roofs later lowered. The 
church is believed to have been dedicated to 
St. Margaret, but is now All Saints. 

Major changes happened to the church 
about 1700 when the house was rebuilt by 
Sir Nathaniel Curzon, the second baronet. 
He installed a sundial over the East wall of 
the church, this is inscribed with the words, 
ôwe shallõ, this together with ôsundialõ makes 
the awful pun ôwe shall soon die allõ. It is 
decorated with skull and crossbones, and on 
its summit are hourglasses, all a timely warn-
ing! He also installed box pews, which at a 
later date the 4th, Lord Scarsdale who was 
also the Rector, hired John Scott in 1884 to 
raise the roof, remove the box pews in the 
nave and put in flooring.  

The North chapel was completed in 
1913, built by Lord Curzon at the cost of 
£4,745 to honour his wife.  It is a large free-
standing monument by the Australian sculp-
tur Bertram Mackennel, it bears the effigies 
of Lord Curzon and his wife Mary, it is a 
table tomb in white marble, two angels hold 
the crown of life over the figures. Lord Cur-
zon who became the Viceroy of India in 
1899, he had been accompanied by his wife. 
Shortly after they returned she suffered a 
miscarriage and peritonitis and eventually 
died in 1906, he was so overcome with grief 
he built the magnificent monument, which 
dominates the church, at the cost of £5,000. 
It is recorded that the marble was from Ita-
ly, the green aventurine floor caused prob-
lems as the colour faded with time. 

We then viewed the rest of the church.  
There is a tomb chest with the effigies of Sir 
John Curzon and his wife dating from 1456, 
Sir John is dressed in armour and at the feet 
of the effigies are dogs, the figures of their 
17 children decorate the sides of the tomb.  
Further Curzon monuments dating back 
over 700 years, fill the church. The stained 
glass in the chancel was made for Lord Cur-
zon, whereas that in the nave, the stations 
of the cross, dating from 1550-1610, was 
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brought by him from Lucern in 1910. The 
constant building and rebuilding over the 
years was evident in many different floor 
levels and the heights of the piscinas.   The 
North transept contains the organ, which 
was built in 1899 and rebuilt and enlarged in 
1910. 

Outside in the churchyard amongst the 
very neat graves there is one dedicated to a 
member of the Curzon family who died as a 
Derbyshire Yeomanry officer and a pioneer 
Corps soldier of World War II. 

We are very grateful to Ann and David 
for not only describing the monuments and 
the lovely building to us, but for giving us 
such an insight in to the Curzon family, and 
including many references to outside re-
search.                                                                                                

    Janette Jackson. 
 
 

ARCHITECTURAL  
SECTION  

 

Melbourne Hall & its Estate. 
Philip Heath 

 
Philip, a former chairman of the section, 

returned to a well-attended  AGM on 24.3.17 
& gave a fascinating account of the changes 
at Melbourne Hall & its Estate through his-
tory. The Hall is well documented & pre-
served, if constrained by the remarkable gar-
den of 1704. It started as a rectory house of 
the Bishops of Carlisle, the manor house 
being the Castle itself, & was sold to Sir John 
Coke of Trusley in 1628. It may have been 
moated originally, & had a public road to the 
E., closed in 1647 with the agreement of 74 
residents. This later allowed great extension 
of the garden, ôto suit Versaillesõ, by Thomas 
Coke, a ôgentleman architectõ, after he inher-
ited the estate in 1692, with the advice of 
Henry Wise, using a local contractor. He 
converted the leasehold to a freehold, & was 
the first patron of Robert Bakewell, erecting 
the famous ôBirdcageõ arbour, for Ã120. 

There was a subsequent scandal & he ôfledõ 
to Derby. There are also numerous lead 
figures in the angles of the Yew hedge by 
Jan van Nost. The level of the Pool, serving 
the Mill, previously belonging to Donington 
Hall, had been raised almost 2 ft. by George 
Sorocold in 1703 to supply the garden foun-
tains, & islands were subsequently estab-
lished as the gardens matured. 

The house was originally medieval & 
irregular, but Georgianized, by the Smith 
family, the main front by William Smith, 
retaining a small courtyard. A gatehouse was 
erected to the design of Joseph Pickford, 
but later demolished. A dower house built 
in Calke Park was not liked by its occupant, 
& the bricks were reused for Melbourne 
National School. There was quarry, & in 
1845 a factory was built to make silk gloves. 

       The last Coke died  in 1750, when it 
passed to Matthew Lamb, the husband of 
Charlotte Coke, & he used the house as a 
secondary home. His son William was the 
first Lord Melbourne, & built The Albany in 
London in 1770 to the designs of William 
Chambers. Only two more held the title, & 
his son, also William, a favourite of Queen 
Victoria early in her reign, became Prime 
Minister. However his two children prede-
ceased him & his brother Frederick suc-
ceeded., but was childless & the estate 
passed in 1853 to his sister Emily. She mar-
ried the 5th Earl of Cowper, but was the 
mistress of Henry Temple, 3rd Viscount  
Palmerston, also Prime Minister, later mar-
rying him. It remained in the hands of the 
Cowper family until Lady Annabel Cowper 
married Admiral of the Fleet Lord Walter 
Kerr, whose descendant is of course Ld. 
Ralph Kerr, a brother of Michael Ancram, 
13th Marquess of Lothian. She also inherited 
Kings Newton Hall, purchased from the 
Hardinge family in 1735, but did not rebuild 
the Hall after the fire of 1859. This was left 
to Sir Cecil Paget in 1910, chairman of the 
Midland Railway, after he bought the estate.  

The Robinson family, growing 
ôquicksettsô, or hawthorn, since 1750, lost a 
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farm tenancy on the estate, but established 
market gardening in the area. At a later date 
Thomas Cook tried unsuccessfully to be-
come tenant of the Hall. The Estate peaked 
in 1900 when extended with the sale of land 
by Donington Hall, but in 1919 part was 
sold, tenants being  prevented from buying. 

                                  Malcolm Busfield 
      

Visit to Cheadle and Alton,  
Staffordshire 

 
Following a talk on A.W.N. Pugin by 

Michael Fisher in October 2016, the Archi-
tectural section organised a visit on 13 May 
2017 to Cheadle and Alton (ôPugin landõ, in 
Pevsnerõs words)  guided by the same au-
thoritative speaker. 

Approaching Cheadle, the 200ft steeple 
of St Giles Roman Catholic church is very 
prominent, and more so than its mediaeval 
counterpart (now Anglican) with the same 
dedication. More remarkably, it was built in 
1841-1846 to serve a catholic congregation 
of barely 100 in a population of 4000. Begun 
with the modest ambition of costing £4000 
it developed into a major statement of Pu-
ginõs architectural ideas (òPerfect Cheadleó), 
encouraged by John Talbot, 16th Earl of 
Shrewsbury, who funded it to an eventual 
cost of £40000. The visitor approaching the 
west doors, decorated with huge golden lions 

rampant, is 
left in no 
doubt about 
the Talbot 
contribution. 
Michael Fisher 
emphasised 
Puginõs partic-
ular prefer-
ence for the 
Decorated 

period of Gothic architecture, deriving au-
thenticity for his style from visiting many 
churches in East Anglia. The Easter sepul-
chre in the chancel, with its splendid ogee 
arch, being a revivalist example, although 
backed by a painting in the Victorian rather 
than mediaeval style. Across the chancel 
(see photograph) there is a magnificent 
combination of a piscina with its sedilia, for 
the priest and deacons.  The sedilia follows 
the downward sequence of the Sanctuary 
steps, leaving the sub deacon in no doubt 
about his liturgical importance. 

The decoration of the church as a whole 
is extremely rich, but the encaustic tiles by 
Herbert Minton of Stoke are particularly 
striking and sumptuous. The fine metal 
work was executed by Hardman of Birming-
ham, and John Hardman like Minton be-
came a personal friend of Pugin. The 
stained glass, which Pugin considered deco-
ratively important, caused him some diffi-
culties before eventually employing William 
Wailes. John Talbot directly influenced the 
interior decoration by proposing the stencil-
ling of all the stonework, the patterns for 
which anticipate the Arts and Crafts move-
ment by decades. Lord Shrewsbury also 
suggested the addition of a Chapel of the 
Blessed Sacrament, for which he gained 
Puginõs enthusiastic approval. Later, Cardi-
nal Newman described it as the ògate of 
Heavenó. 
Michael Fish-
er believes 
that Puginõs 
architectural 
and decora-
tive style 
stemmed 
from his theo-
logical and 
moral ideas 
which, in 

Piscina with Sedilia 
and 
St Johnôs Chapel 


